STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED
02-23-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal No. 2020AP002017 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

KEITH J. DRESSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, BRANCH XIV, THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

KEITH J. DRESSER, Defendant-Appellant

BY: JOHN C. ORTH MAYS LAW OFFICE, LLC Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant 6405 Century Avenue, Suite 103 Middleton, Wisconsin 53562 (608) 257-0440 State Bar No. 1025716

ISSUE PRESENTED
A. Was the Defendant-Appellant seized when Deputy Schafer activated his squad car emergency lights?
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION 2
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS
ARGUMENT
I. MR. DRESSER'S SEIZURE WAS NOT JUSTIFIED BY THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER DOCTRINE
A. BURDEN OF PROOF AND STANDARD OF REVIEW 3
B. The Community Caretaker Test
II. Conclusion8
CERTIFICATION 9

TABLE OF AUTHORITY

WISCONSIN STATE CASES CITED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **DISTRICT IV**

Appeal No. 2020AP002017 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

KEITH J. DRESSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, BRANCH XIV, THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING

ISSUES PRESENTED

A. Was the Defendant-Appellant seized when Deputy Schafer activated his squad car emergency lights?

Trial court. Yes. The trial court concluded that the Defendant-Appellant was seized under the "reasonable person" standard when the deputy activated his emergency lights, regardless of whether or not he was conscious at the time.

C. Was the seizure of the Defendant-Appellant lawful under the community caretaker doctrine?

Trial court. Yes. The trial court concluded that the seizure of the Defendant-Appellant was justified under the community caretaker doctrine.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant does not request that the opinion in this appeal be published, nor does he request oral argument of the issues presented in this case, but stands ready to so provide if this Court believes that oral argument would be useful in the exposition of the legal arguments presented herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By a criminal complaint filed in the Dane County Circuit Court on October 30, 2019, the defendant-appellant, Keith J. Dresser (hereinafter Mr. Dresser), was charged in Dane County case number 19CT731 with operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated (OWI) as a third offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and operating while having a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC) as a third offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b).

On January 2, 2020, Mr. Dresser filed a Motion to Suppress – Unlawful Detention and Arrest. Following a June 1, 2020 motion hearing the Honorable John D. Hyland denied the defendant's motion

by a June 3, 2020, written decision.

The defendant entered a guilty plea to the OWI charge on October 5, 2020, and was sentenced on that date.

By Notice of Appeal filed on December 4, 2020, Mr. Dresser appeals the trial court's denial of his motion to supress and the judgment in this matter in its entirety.

FACTS

On October 5, 2019, Dane County Deputy Trent Schafer was traveling on Broadway near Monona Drive in the City of Monona. Shortly after 5:00 a.m., he observed a vehicle in the parking lot of a closed Taco Bell (39, p. 6). He observed a person in the vehicle who appeared to be either passed out or sleeping. (39, p. 7). He then pulled into the parking lot. Deputy Schafer then activated his emergency lights, parked and approached the vehicle (39, p. 8).

ARGUMENT

I. MR. DRESSER'S SEIZURE WAS NOT JUSTIFIED BY THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER DOCTRINE.

A. Burden of Proof and Standard of Review

The State bears the burden of "proving that the officer's conduct fell within the scope of a reasonable community caretaker function." State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶17, 759 N.W.2d 598 (citing State v. Ziedonis, 2005 WI App. 249, ¶15, 287 Wis. 2d 831).

Whether the actions of police constitute a constitutional violation is a question of constitutional fact reviewed independently by the appellate courts. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶16. Thus, the appellate courts independently review, "whether an officer's community caretaker function satisfies the requirements of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 11 of the federal and state constitutions." Id.

B. The Community Caretaker Test.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the community caretaker doctrine in relation to vehicle seizures in the case of <u>State v. Kramer</u>, explicitly adopting the 3 part "Anderson I" test utilized in <u>State v. Kelsey C.R.</u>, 2001 WI 54, ¶35 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777. <u>Kramer</u>, 2009 WI 14, ¶21, fn. 8. In order to evaluate the constitutionality of a seizure of a person under the community caretaker doctrine, the trial court must determine:

(1) that a seizure within the meaning of the *fourth amendment* has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity; and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual. Id. at ¶21 (quoting State v. Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987), rev'd on other grounds, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990)).

Courts must evaluate whether police action constitutes a bona fide community caretaker action under the totality of the circumstances. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶30. Accordingly, "when under the totality of the circumstances an objectively reasonable basis for a community caretaker function is shown, that determination is not negated by the officer's subjective law enforcement concerns," rather the officer's subjective intent is one factor that may be considered in the totality of circumstances. Id. at ¶30-31. The Court in Kramer concluded that, "if the court concludes that the officer has articulated an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the community caretaker function, [the officer] has met the standard of acting as a bona fide community caretaker." Id. at ¶36.

The third part of the community caretaker test is a balancing test which requires consideration of four factors set out in Kelsey
C.R.:

- (1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation;
- (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including
- time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed;
- (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶41 (citations omitted).
- i. The Defendant-Appellant Was Seized When Deputy Schaefer Activated His Emergency Lights.

The first step of a community caretaker analysis is to determine whether a seizure has occurred. When Deputy Schafer activated his lights, a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment was effected. State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729; California v. Hodari D., 499 U.S. 621 (1991). The trial court so concluded.

ii. Law Enforcement Was Not Engaged in a Bona FideCommunity Caretaker Action.

Looking to the second element of the <u>Anderson</u> test, the seizure of Mr. Dresser was not a *bona fide* community caretaker activity. The totality of the circumstances do not demonstrate an objectively reasonable basis for community caretaker activity. At the time Mr. Dresser was seized, there was no reason to believe that anything more distressing was occurring than an individual sleeping in his car – hardly a remarkable occurrence, especially given the time of day.

iii. The Public Need Did Not Outweigh the Privacy Intrusion.

With regard to the third element, even assuming that this was bona fide community caretaker activity, the public need did not outweigh the intrusion on Mr. Dresser's privacy interest. In Kramer, Wisconsin's Supreme Court stated:

The stronger the public need and the more minimal the intrusion upon an individual's liberty, the more likely the police conduct will be held to be reasonable. In balancing these interests, we consider the following factors:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

There was virtually no public interest or exigency demanding action in this case. With regards to the severity of the intrusion, Mr. Dresser would point to the second and fourth prongs of the balancing test stated above, specifically the level of overt authority displayed and the availability and feasibility of alternative means. In Kramer, the defendant was parked on the crest of a hill on a rural highway at approximately 8:45 p.m., during hours of darkness, with his hazard lights on. A deputy passed his vehicle, performed a U-turn, activated his emergency lights and parked behind Kramer's vehicle. Kramer argued that the activation of the officer's emergency lights was an excessive show of authority under the circumstances. The Court disagreed, stating that "although [Deputy] Wagner's activation of his police cruiser's emergency lights may be interpreted as a show of authority, the activation of the lights was also a safety precaution because Kramer had stopped in an unlighted area after dark on a two-lane county highway near the crest of a hill." ¶ 43. The

location of Mr. Dresser's detention was not one that would necessitate the activation of emergency light lights for officer safety. It was the parking lot of a closed fast food restaurant with no traffic. For the same reason, if Deputy Schafer was, in fact, engaging in community caretaker activity, there were clearly less intrusive means both available and feasible. He could have initiated voluntary, consensual contact with Mr. Dresser by doing precisely what he did, but without activating his emergency lights.

II. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the conviction of the appellant must be reversed and this action remanded to the trial court with directions to grant the appellant's Motion to Suppress.