Page 1 of 28

RECEIVED 04-23-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2020AP002017-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

KEITH JAMEISON DRESSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 14, THE HONORABLE JOHN D.HYLAND, PRESIDING

> Colleen Lennon Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1121237

Dane County District Attorney's Office 215 S. Hamilton St., Room 3000 Madison WI 53703-3297 Telephone: (608) 266-4211

INTRODUCTION

This about law enforcement officer, is а case а operating under procedures to make safe contact, checking on the wellbeing of an unconscious subject as a community caretaker. This Court should uphold the trial court's order denying Mr. Dresser's motion to suppress for the following reasons: (1) Mr. Dresser was not seized when Deputy Schafer activated his emergency lights and (2) even if Mr. Dresser was seized when Deputy Schafer activated his emergency lights, Deputy Schafer was acting as a bona fide community caretaker determining whether an unconscious subject needed medical assistance, thereby legally seizing Mr. Dresser under the community caretaker function.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. <u>See</u> Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)2 (2019-2020). However, the State presents the following facts to supplement the facts provided at page 3 of the Brief of Defendant-Appellant. At the motion hearing, Deputy Schafer testified that at approximately

5:00 AM, he observed a lone vehicle parked in a closed business's parking lot. (32:6-7). As he pulled into the parking lot, Deputy Schafer testified that he observed Mr. Dresser, unconscious in the driver's seat. (32:8). The Deputy testified that Mr. Dresser looked to be either "sleeping or passed out." (32:8). As shown on the Deputy's squad video, the Deputy then parked his squad a distance behind and to the side of Dresser's vehicle and activated his emergency lights (26:Exhibit 1 at 0:30). Deputy Schafer testified that he did this as a part of his training to make contact in a safe manner (32:8-9).

The Deputy then approached the vehicle from the passenger side (32:9). As he approached the vehicle on foot, Deputy Schafer testified that observed Mr. Dresser with his head straight down, with snot or vomit in his hand and coming from his face area (32:9). The Deputy shone his flashlight into the window, knocked on the window, and attempted to speak to Dresser(32:11; 26:Exhibit 1 at 0:47-0:56). Deputy Schafer testified that it was at this time that Mr. Dresser became conscious and was confused. (32:12-13). The Deputy further testified that Mr. Dresser reached over to attempt to open the passenger door. (32:12-13). When the door was opened, the Deputy noted a strong odor of

intoxicants. (32: 10-11; 26:Exhibit 1 at 0:58-1:27). Upon noting the strong odor of intoxicants, and based on his training and experience, the Deputy began his OWI investigation (32:12).

The trial court denied the motion to suppress, holding that while Mr. Dresser was seized when Deputy Schafer activated his overhead emergency lights, Deputy Schafer was acting as a bona fide community caretaker. (27:5).

ARGUMENT

- I. DEPUTY SCHAFER ACTIVATING THE EMEREGENCY LIGHTS DID NOT CONSTITUTE AN UNLAWFUL SEIZURE UNDER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.
 - A. Standard of Review and Burden of Proof

In reviewing a motion to suppress, the appellate court applies a two-step analysis. <u>State v. Easton</u>, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 9, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625. First, the appellate court reviews the circuit court's findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard. <u>Id.</u>; <u>State v. Felix</u>, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 22, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775. Second, the appellate court reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts de novo. Felix, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 22.

The same two-step analysis applies in determining whether a seizure occurred. County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014

WI 76, ¶ 17, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253. As such, whether and when a seizure occurred is reviewed de novo. <u>Id.</u> If the appellate court determines that a seizure occurred, whether an officer's community caretaker function satisfies the requirements under Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution is reviewed independently. <u>State</u> <u>v. Kramer</u>, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 16, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; <u>In re Kelsey C.R.</u>, 2001 WI 54, ¶ 34, 243 Wis.2d 422, 626 N.W.2d; 777.U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. Art. 1, § 11.

If a seizure occurred, the State bears the burden of proving that law enforcement's conduct fell within the scope of a reasonable community caretaker function. <u>Kramer</u>, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 17; <u>State v. Ziedonis</u>, 2005 WI App 249, ¶ 15, 287 Wis. 2d 831, 707 N.W.2d 565.

B. Deputy Schafer did not seize Dresser when he activated the emergency lights in view of all the circumstances.

Not all personal interactions between law enforcement officers and people constitute a seizure. <u>State v. Young</u>, 2006 WI 98, ¶¶ 18, 23, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729; <u>Terry</u> v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, n. 16 (1968). A seizure occurs "[o]nly

when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen." <u>United States v. Mendenhall</u>, 446 U.S. 544, 552 (1980). "A person has been 'seized' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment only if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." <u>Vogt</u>, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 20 (quoting <u>Mendenhall</u>, 446 U.S. at 554 (footnote omitted)). "'[T]he "reasonable person" test presupposes an innocent person.'" <u>State v. Williams</u>, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 23, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834 (quoting <u>Florida</u> <u>v. Bostick</u>, 501 U.S. 429, 438 (1991)).

It is not the law in Wisconsin that an officer's activation of emergency lights automatically constitutes a seizure. <u>State v. Powers</u>, 2004 WI App 143, ¶ 8, 275 Wis. 2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869. In <u>Powers</u>, the court noted that Powers was not seized when the officer activated his emergency lights, rather, "the seizure did not occur until Powers pulled off the public street, into a parking lot and parked in front of the restaurant." <u>Id.</u> This is because "[i]n order to effect a seizure, an officer must make a show of authority, and the citizen must actually yield to that show

of authority." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>In re Kelsey C.R.</u>, 2001 WI 54, ¶ 33.

Further, the court has "expressed reluctance to determine that pulling behind a car and 'present[ing] indicia of police authority' automatically constitutes a seizure." <u>Vogt</u>, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 32, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253 (quoting <u>Young</u>, 2006 WI 98, ¶¶ 65, 69). In <u>Young</u>, the court was reluctant to determine that the officer's conduct was a seizure, highlighting that the defendant's car was already parked and that the officer did not activate the red and blue emergency lights.

Here, Deputy Schafer activated the emergency lights, yet Dresser's vehicle was already parked. Further, the Deputy's vehicle was parked a distance away from Dresser's parked vehicle, not directly up to Dresser's vehicle and not in a position to prevent Dresser from leaving. (26: Exhibit 1 at 0:30). As shown in the squad video, Deputy Schafer's lone squad was positioned in a way where he could continue to exit the parking lot. <u>Id.</u> Dresser did not yield to a show of authority by pulling over like in <u>Powers</u> and his car vehicle was already parked, like in <u>Young</u>. These circumstances do not constitute such a show of authority that a reasonable person would not feel free to leave.

Therefore, Dresser was not seized when Deputy Schafer activated the emergency lights.

C. Even if Mr. Dresser was seized when Deputy the Schafer activated the emergency lights, Deputy was acting as а bona fide community caretaker serving a public need that outweighed privacy intrusion.

When the Deputy activated the emergency lights, he was acting as a community caretaker. The community caretaker function, "while perhaps lacking in some respects to the urgency of criminal investigation, is nevertheless an important and essential part of the police role." <u>Bies v.</u> <u>State</u>, 76 Wis. 2d 457, 471, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977). As the Court established in <u>Cady</u>, a warrantless search and seizure of a vehicle was permitted because the police were engaged in "what, for want of a better term, may be described as community caretaking functions, totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." <u>Cady v.</u> Dombrowski, 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973).

The community caretaker function analysis "require[s] a balancing of the public need and interest furthered by the police conduct against the degree of and nature of the intrusion upon the privacy of the citizen." State v.

<u>Anderson</u>, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 168, 417 N.W.2d 411,413 (1987). It is an "objective analysis of the circumstances confronted by the police officer" and an "objective assessment of the intrusion upon the privacy of the citizen." Id.

The court of appeals established a three-step test for evaluating the community caretaker function in Anderson:

[W]hen a community caretaker function is asserted as justification for the seizure of a person, the trial court must determine: (1) that a seizure within the meaning of the fourth amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity; and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual.

Anderson, 142 Wis.2d at 169.

Even if this Court finds that a seizure occurred when Deputy Schafer activated his emergency lights, he was acting as a bona fide community caretaker. The Deputy was addressing a public need by checking on the health and safety of someone unconscious in the driver's seat of a vehicle in a closed business's parking lot. The public expects officers in their community caretaker function to check on unconscious drivers for need of medical assistance and this interest outweighed Dresser's privacy interest in

his vehicle parked in a closed business's parking lot at 5:00 AM.

i. Deputy Schafer was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function when he activated the emergency lights.

A law enforcement officer acts as a bona fide community caretaker when "there is an 'objectively reasonable basis' to believe that there is 'a member of the public who is in need of assistance.'" <u>State v. Ultsch</u>, 2011 WI App 17, ¶ 15, 331 Wis. 2d. 242, 793 N.W.2d 505 (quoting <u>Kramer</u>, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶ 30, 32). "[I]f the court concludes that the officer has articulated an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the community caretaker function, he has met the standard of acting as a bona fide community caretaker, whose community caretaker function is totally divorced from law enforcement functions." Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 36.

From the moment he observed Mr. Dresser unconscious to the moment he noted the odor of intoxication, Deputy Schafer had an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances to check if Mr. Dresser needed medical assistance. As Deputy Schafer pulled into the parking lot, he observed an individual in the driver's

seat of vehicle, located in a closed business's parking lot at 5:00 AM, who appeared to either be sleeping or passed out.(32:8). He then pulled into an area behind the vehicle and activated his emergency lights, based on "procedures used whenever making contact with somebody in a safe manner." (32:8-9).

Based on the totality of the circumstances, including time of day, location, posture of Mr. Dresser, Deputy Schafer had an objectively reasonable basis under these circumstances to check whether Mr. Dresser was either merely sleeping or passed out and in need of medical assistance. With Mr. Dresser being visibly unconscious in the driver's seat of his vehicle at a late night to early morning hour in a public business parking lot, Deputy Schafer's actions were consistent with concern for Mr. fact, the Deputy's Dresser's wellbeing. In further observations in approaching Mr. Dresser's vehicle on foot confirmed his concern for Mr. Dresser's physical wellbeing, as he observed the driver's head down, with snot or vomit in his hands. (32: 9). See State v. Myer, No. 2016AP490, 2016 WL 7437661, ¶ 13 (WI App Dec. 22, 2016) (unpublished but authored).

ii. Public need for law enforcement to check for medical assistance outweighed the privacy intrusion.

Whether the officer's exercise of a bona fide community caretaker is reasonable requires a balancing of "the public interest or need that is furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree of and nature of the restriction upon the liberty interest of the citizen." <u>Kramer</u>, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 40 (citations omitted). "The stronger the public need and the more minimal the intrusion upon an individual's liberty, the more likely the police conduct will be held to be reasonable". <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 41. The court considers the following factors in balancing these interests:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d at 169.

Turning to the first factor, the public has a substantial interest in ensuring that police assist unconscious vehicle occupants who may be in need medical assistance. See State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶¶ 50, 52,

362 Wis. 2d 138, 864 N.W.2d 26 (unconscious home occupants). "An individual's physical and mental health status is an issue of public interest and presents an exigency when an officer reasonably determines that physical or mental health could be in jeopardy." <u>Id.</u> at **4**9; <u>See State v. Pinkard</u>, 2010 WI 81, **4**9 47-48, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592.

Here, Deputy Schafer observed an individual who appeared to either be sleeping or passed out in the driver's seat of a vehicle parked at approximately 5:00 AM in what he knew to be a closed business's parking lot.(32:8). He reasonably determined that the situation could be an emergency, as the Deputy did not know whether Mr. Dresser, in his unconscious state, was in need of to potential overdose medical assistance due or intoxication. Since Mr. Dresser's physical health could have been in jeopardy, the Deputy proceeded as a community caretaker accordingly. Therefore, the first factor weighs in favor of Deputy Schafer's community caretaker function being reasonable, having acting in the public's interest to check for medical assistance.

Second, considering the time, location, and degree of authority and force displayed, Deputy Schafer's actions

were reasonable under the circumstances. As articulated in <u>Kramer</u>, while the activation of the emergency lights can be seen as show of authority, it is also a safety precaution. <u>Kramer</u>, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 43. In <u>Kramer</u>, the safety precaution was to alert passing traffic that vehicles were on the shoulder. <u>Id.</u> Here, the safety precaution alerted the observed unconscious subject, if roused, that an officer was approaching. <u>See United States v. Clements</u>, 522 F.3d 790, 796 (7th Cir. 2008) (emergency lights used for identification and safety purposes, otherwise officers would have put themselves at risk in approaching a parked car late at night).

Deputy Schafer activated his emergency lights a distance behind a parked vehicle, located in closed business's parking lot at approximately 5:00 AM. (26: Exhibit 1 at 0:30). In approaching the vehicle, the Deputy flashed his flashlight through the passenger window, knocked on the window, and attempted to speak to Mr. Dresser before the door was opened. (32:11; 26: Exhibit 1 at 0:47-0:56). Under the circumstances here, the late to early morning hours, the closed business's parking lot, and Mr. Dresser's unconscious state in the driver's seat of his vehicle, the Deputy's actions were the least intrusive

means of safely approaching an unconscious subject to check for medical assistance.

Third, Mr. Dresser was located in his vehicle. This factor is considered in the Anderson test because a citizen has a lesser expectation of privacy in an automobile. Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d at 170. Further, Deputy Schafer observed an unconscious subject who could need medical assistance from overdose or other intoxicant in the driver's seat of a vehicle. If Mr. Dresser were to gain consciousness and drive, he could cause harm to other See Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 56(reasonable drivers. community caretaker function because driver might have had a heart condition or be intoxicated and could harm other drivers). With these considerations, Deputy Schafer's actions in parking a distance behind the vehicle and activating his emergency lights, and further approaching the vehicle and knocking on the window, were reasonable.

Fourth, the court considers the availability, feasibility, and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished. Mr. Dresser asserts that Deputy Schafer just shouldn't have activated the emergency lights. (App. Brief 8). As noted, the Deputy's activation of the emergency lights functioned as a safety

precaution to alert unconscious subject that an officer was approaching. Alternatively, approaching the vehicle without the emergency lights activated would require the Deputy to approach an unconscious person without any safety precaution or notice. While not activating the emergency lights is an option that would be available and feasible, it would not be effective in safely checking on the unconscious subject under the circumstances.

Deputy Schafer actions, including activating the emergency lights, addressed the public interest in law enforcement checking on an unconscious person who could need medical assistance. Particularly when the unconscious individual is in the driver's seat of a vehicle, parked in on closed business's parking lot at 5:00 in the morning. At this location and time, and upon observing someone their vehicle, the activation unconscious in of the emergency lights served as a safety precaution to alert the unconscious driver, if roused, that a law enforcement officer was approaching. Given these circumstances, Deputy Schafer's actions were reasonable, addressing a strong public need with minimal intrusion on Mr. Dressers privacy interest.

Therefore, if Mr. Dresser was seized under the Fourth Amendment when the emergency lights were activated, the seizure was pursuant to Deputy Schafer acting as a bona fide community caretaker whose actions were reasonable under a totality of the circumstances and in the public's interest.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the State of Wisconsin requests this Court to affirm the trial court's decision to deny the motion to suppress.